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INTRODUCTION


‘Fine Gael, my party, is the party that founded the state, its institutions. The party that founded the Republic’.


– LEO VARADKAR, SPEAKING AFTER THE 2020 GENERAL ELECTION.


This book tells the story of a party that was all about government, but spent most of its life in opposition; a party that was at different times – and occasionally at the same time – both the most conservative and the most liberal in Irish politics; a party which spent the best part of a century aiming to overtake Fianna Fáil, and then blew its lead over its traditional enemy in less than a decade; a party that eventually entered government with that enemy.


Officially created in 1933, Fine Gael traces its roots back to the Cumann na nGaedheal era of the 1920s and, for some, to the traditions of the old Irish Party. Its history is explored through the lens of its successive leaders in this personality-driven study, and we examine also the ways that members perceive their own history. We have chosen to frame the book as ‘Collins to Varadkar’, despite the fact that Michael Collins was dead before Cumann na nGaedheal was ever created. This timeline is irrelevant to the Fine Gael faithful. For them, Collins is something of a father figure and he occupies a special place in the party’s pantheon of heroes. It is accepted without question by them that he would have been a member if he had lived past 1922. While we have not explored his life, he appears at various points in the following chapters, on those occasions when his name was invoked by subsequent generations to create connections with a glorious past or to add legitimacy to current actions. As we will see in Chapter 14, Collins’s memory was a close companion of Enda Kenny’s time in government. The Taoiseach cast his role in dealing with the challenges facing the state’s sovereignty after the bailout in the same context as Collins’s work to secure Irish independence in 1921–22.


We conclude with Leo Varadkar. The election of the openly gay son of an Indian immigrant (though of course there is more to his identity than this alone) showed how far Fine Gael, and the country, had come. Varadkar’s later liberal social policies, together with the marriage and abortion referendums, further diluted a waning perception that Fine Gael is a conservative party. For much of its history Fine Gael was a party that was staunchly Catholic and socially conservative. Garret FitzGerald had tried to challenge that in the 1980s, but the hostile reception that his constitutional crusade received, both within and outside the party, did little to convince observers of Fine Gael’s commitment to change at the time.


Fine Gael has always been proud of the role that its forefathers in Cumann na nGaedheal played in the founding and development of the Irish Free State. Born amidst the bloodshed of the Civil War, it was a government before it was a party. Kevin O’Higgins famously summed up the reality of the situation when he described himself and his cabinet colleagues as ‘simply eight young men in City Hall standing amidst the ruins of one administration, with the foundations of another not yet laid, with wild men screaming through the keyhole.’1 Over a period of ten years, under the direction of W.T. Cosgrave, party leader and president of the Executive Council, the Cumann na nGaedheal government dealt with challenges to the state. When Fianna Fáil won the 1932 election there was a smooth transition of power from the winners to the losers of the Civil War – a remarkable achievement for a new state created only ten years earlier.


That first decade of independence gave rise to what has become a well-worn narrative in Fine Gael circles. As the title of our book highlights and the following chapters show, politicians and supporters have since invoked the party’s role as the founders of the state to demonstrate a long-standing commitment to defending the state – a concept used interchangeably with the notion of saving the state. In the days after the 2020 general election Varadkar told RTÉ News, ‘We’re the ones who founded the state. We’re the ones who established the institutions. We’re the ones who made this country a republic. And we’ll stand by the state and the republic.’2


From that comes another defining characteristic. Fine Gael prides itself on being the party of law and order. ‘Not for the first time has this party stood between the people of this country and anarchy,’ Liam Cosgrave reminded the party faithful at an ard-fheis in 1977. But this element of Fine Gael’s identity has a somewhat murky point of origin. In its efforts to stabilise the nascent state, the Provisional Government stepped outside the rule of law in 1922 when it authorised the execution of four republican prisoners as a message to those who refused to accept the legitimacy of the Free State – a dark episode explored more fully in Chapter 1.


One of the reasons why Fine Gael has been so insistent on the Collins and Cumann na nGaedheal narrative is the problematic reality of the alternative. When the party was created, in 1933, it was not simply a rebranded Cumann na nGaedheal. Rather, Cosgrave’s party joined with the National Centre Party and the Blueshirts, and it was Eoin O’Duffy, the leader of the latter, who was chosen as the first president. But he has no place on the roll call of Fine Gael heroes, and instead a wall of silence surrounds his name. Both he and his shirted movement have been a considerable embarrassment to Fine Gael and a source of derision for its opponents. When Varadkar criticised Sinn Féin’s plan to hold nationwide rallies after the 2020 election, branding the gatherings a ‘campaign of intimidation and bullying’, Twitter users gleefully reminded Fine Gael of its Blueshirt history.3 We address the thorny question of O’Duffy, the Blueshirts and their relationship to the fascism of the inter-war years, and what that means for the party of law and order, in Chapter 2.


Whilst the idea of Fine Gael as the defenders of the state has a long tradition in the party, as we will see at various points in the following chapters, two other elements of its history are now mentioned with increased frequency. Trumpeting Fine Gael’s role in making Ireland a republic seems a natural continuation of emphasising the state-building legacy, yet the party has been traditionally quiet on this subject. Under Varadkar’s leadership, that has changed considerably and in Chapter 15 we explore Fine Gael’s mixed relationship with this key moment in its history.


As discussed in Chapter 5, Declan Costello formulated his Just Society proposals in the 1960s to create a new Ireland and to redefine Fine Gael. The details of the document were specific to that decade, and by the 1970s, as one party activist put it, ‘we were the party of the Just Society … but it was a long way behind us by then’.4 The title, however, has become a useful slogan for subsequent politicians – most recently during the 2017 leadership contest – as shorthand for progress.


After ten years of continuous government as Cumann na nGaedheal, Fine Gael spent the majority of its political life in the shadow of Fianna Fáil, trailing in second place behind its rival in election after election. It managed to scramble into office from time to time in coalition with other parties, but the opposition benches were an all-too-familiar place. Having languished in second place for so long, Fine Gael under Enda Kenny emerged as the biggest party in the state after the financial crisis of 2008–10 had shattered the confidence of the public in the ability of Fianna Fáil to govern. Like his party predecessors, Kenny enhanced his reputation in the Taoiseach’s office, and he led the country out of the mire of the EU-IMF bailout. By the time he left office Ireland had the fastest-growing economy in the European Union.


Kenny achieved his goal of being the first leader of the party since the 1920s to retain power in an election after a period in government, but Fine Gael lost 26 seats after a poor campaign in 2016, and some of his TDs began to conspire against him. Seeing the writing on the wall, he stepped down in June 2017 and was replaced by Varadkar. The results of the 2020 election were a major disappointment to Fine Gael. The spread of seats among the parties in the Dáil created uncertainty about the shape of the government, giving rise to speculation, albeit in hushed tones initially, that Fine Gael and Fianna Fáil might do a deal.


Back in 1927 speculation had circulated in some regional newspapers that Cumann na nGaedheal and Fianna Fáil might reunite under the old Sinn Féin banner. But nothing ever amounted from such suggestions. An attempt to fuse Sinn Féin with a pact election in 1922 had already failed. When other countries formed national governments during the Second World War, Fianna Fáil and Fine Gael did not do the same, though Fine Gael did try. The Treaty split continued to define the political children of Sinn Féin long after the 1920s. Charlie Flanagan once recalled, ‘Being in a Fine Gael household, one not only had a liking for Fine Gael politics, but a hatred of Fianna Fáil and everything it stood for.’5 The idea of the two parties working together in tandem was unthinkable for a long time.


What became known as the Tallaght Strategy in 1987 marked a major departure in Irish politics. However, Alan Dukes, leader from 1987 until 1990, was widely criticised in the party for offering support from the opposition benches to the minority Fianna Fáil government. The experiment was not repeated for some time. But political expediency focuses minds, and in 2016 Fianna Fáil entered a confidence and supply deal with the Fine Gael government. This was a clear indication that the main cleavage in the Irish political system, when it came to two of its oldest members, had changed for ever.


Such arrangements opened the door to the prospect of closer collaboration, but when we began discussing this book, we had not anticipated that the final chapter would make such a neat ending. The aftermath of the 2020 general election brought to an end, as Varadkar pointed out, Civil War politics in the Irish parliament.6 An agreement that would have been unthinkable to the party’s forefathers almost a century earlier saw Fine Gael vote for Fianna Fáil’s Micheál Martin to become the fifteenth Taoiseach. In the following chapters, we explore how Fine Gael came to be the party it is today and how a coalition with its traditional rival was seen as an option in what was the most extraordinary of circumstances.




1


THE W.T. COSGRAVE YEARS


‘It would be hard to imagine anybody who is less true to what we used to consider the Sinn Féin type than Mr. Cosgrave. It is not only that he does not dress in the regulation way – trench coat, leggings and slouch hat and the rest of it; but he has a thoroughly Conservative face.’


– IRISH TIMES, 9 SEPTEMBER 1922.


At Dublin Castle on 16 January 1922, the British handed over control of an independent Ireland to a provisional government led by Michael Collins. The first test of the new state came with a general election on 25 June 1922.1 In an effort to avert civil war Collins and de Valera signed a pact that would allow the pro- and anti-Treaty factions to return to the Dáil in their existing strength. Neither man appears to have understood the workings of proportional representation, because such a pact was simply not feasible in multi-seat constituencies, with other parties and independents also entitled to enter the fray. Collins repudiated the pact just two days before the general election. Despite widespread intimidation by anti-Treaty forces, who came to be known as the Irregulars, the pro-Treaty panel of candidates polled nearly twice as many votes as its opponents. If the votes of Labour, Farmers’ Party and independent candidates are added to the pro-Treaty total the result was even more decisive, with less than 22 per cent of the electorate voting for candidates who opposed the settlement. After the election the Provisional Government issued an ultimatum to the Irregulars to leave the Four Courts and release a hostage they were holding there. The republicans refused, and the Civil War began with an attack on the Four Courts by the Free State army on 28 June. Collins had come under enormous pressure from Churchill to take action after the assassination of Sir Henry Wilson, and the British provided the artillery for the Free State forces to launch a bombardment of the Irregular positions.


The garrison surrendered after three days, but in the course of the fighting the Public Record Office, and much of its invaluable collection of historic documents, was destroyed. Street fighting took place in Dublin, and O’Connell Street was again left in ruins, only six years after 1916. In a major military offensive, the Free State forces drove the Irregulars out of all the major towns by the end of August, with successful seaborne landings in Cork and Tralee. After that the Irregulars took to guerrilla war. Collins took temporary leave from his position as chairman of the Provisional Government to concentrate on winning the war and W.T. Cosgrave was elected by his colleagues as cabinet chairman in his place, while Arthur Griffith continued on as president of Dáil Éireann.


Although circumstances had taken Griffith down a political route, he was more comfortable with the life of a journalist. Born in Dublin in 1871, he later followed his father into the printing trade, which served as his first introduction to journalism. Over the course of his career he developed an impressive résumé of newspaper titles, which included the United Irishman, Sinn Féin, Éire, Scissors and Paste and Nationality. A skilled polemicist, his writings helped shape a generation of young separatists. In The Resurrection of Hungary, published first as a series of articles and then in pamphlet form in 1904, he wrote of how the Austro-Hungarian model of dual monarchy could be applied to the Anglo-Irish relationship. In particular, he proposed that the policy of passive resistance followed by Hungary in the middle of the nineteenth century be adopted in Ireland. His economic thinking was shaped by Friedrich List and Henry Carey, both of whom advocated protectionism. Not only was this the cornerstone of Sinn Féin’s economic policies but it would also influence, and divide, thinking in Cumann na nGaedheal throughout the 1920s.


Although 1916 and the subsequent independence struggle were at odds with his policy of non-violence, Griffith remained active in Sinn Féin, which became a very different party to that which he had founded with Bulmer Hobson. He ultimately led the delegation to Britain that signed the Treaty on 6 December 1921. Defending the settlement in the Dáil, he argued, ‘We have brought back to Ireland equality with England.’2 Griffith remained a journalist at heart, and his final involvement with a publication came only a year before his sudden death. An Saorstát – the organ of the pro-Treatyites – first appeared in February 1922, reflecting Griffith’s belief in the value of a newspaper for advancing a cause. Though Griffith features in the Fine Gael pantheon of great leaders, his legacy, Colum Kenny suggests in a new biography, belongs to no single political party today.3


In contrast to Griffith, Michael Collins was seen to be at the forefront of the physical struggle after 1919. Born in Co. Cork in 1890, he emigrated to London in 1906, where he became involved with the Irish Republican Brotherhood through the GAA. The organisational abilities he displayed within the association would later prove invaluable. Like many of his contemporaries, he came to prominence in republican circles through this connection. Later, countless people involved in the campaign for independence would claim to have met or soldiered alongside him. But, as his recent biographers Anne Dolan and William Murphy have observed, ‘the image we have of him comes filtered through a sensational lens, exaggerated out of all proportion.’ Collins himself knew the power of persona, capitalising on it where he could.4 The image that endures long after his death is the powerful figure he cut in his commander-in-chief uniform. Had he lived and chosen to become a full-time politician, his personality was such that he might have provided Cumann na nGaedheal with a charismatic rival to de Valera, while his exceptional organisational abilities might have resulted in the creation of a more defined branch structure. Or would his great military reputation have withered, like Richard Mulcahy’s? And would his authoritarian streak have been reconciled with the practice of democratic politics? These are the great ‘what ifs’ of Irish history.


But let us return to the months before his death. On the instructions of Collins, the first meeting of the third Dáil was postponed on a number of occasions during the summer, pending the stabilisation of the military situation. Following the outbreak of hostilities at the end of June, Griffith and the members of the Provisional Government, whose lives were now in constant danger, were compelled to live together under military guard in the newly acquired Government Buildings in Upper Merrion Street, which is now the Department of the Taoiseach. As the war intensified, some ministers brought their families there for safety.


On 22 August, just ten days after the death of Griffith, came the news of Collins’s death at Bealnablath. The cabinet met that night in Cosgrave’s office and the immediate concern was to ensure that there were no military reprisals. Collins’s body was brought back from Cork to Dublin by boat and lay in state in City Hall. He was buried in Glasnevin alongside Griffith, Parnell and O’Connell. Richard Mulcahy delivered the graveside oration.


Although he was acting chairman of the Provisional Government, Cosgrave was not the only name considered by the leaders of the pro-Treaty party. While he had been a founder-member of Sinn Féin and a highly regarded member of Dublin Corporation, Cosgrave did not have the romance associated with the leaders of the armed wing of the independence movement. Richard Mulcahy and Eoin MacNeill were asked by supporters to put their names forward. The dynamic and abrasive Kevin O’Higgins, who never had an easy relationship with Cosgrave, pressed Richard Mulcahy to contest the position. ‘O’Higgins’ idea was that I should be the head of the Government,’ wrote Mulcahy, ‘but there was no move to discuss that and as far as I was concerned the position with regard to the army was that I didn’t believe that the army could be handled by anyone except myself after Collins’ death. Therefore, the question of my taking over the Government would be an utter impossibility at that time.’5


The writer Terence de Vere White, who knew many of the leading figures, recalled that, while O’Higgins favoured Mulcahy, support for Cosgrave was so strong that he withdrew his opposition. O’Higgins, though, is reputed to have sneered that ‘a Dublin corporator would make Ireland a nation once again.’ On the republican side there was a misguided view that Cosgrave and his colleagues would not be able for the task facing them. Writing at the end of August, Liam Lynch suggested, ‘Collins’ loss is one which they cannot fill. The enemy’s position from the point of view of military and political leadership is very bad. We are at present in a much better position.’


Despite the reservations of some colleagues, Cosgrave was confirmed in his position as chairman of the Provisional Government. The first thing he did was to abandon the policy instigated by Collins of deferring the meeting of the third Dáil until the Civil War was over, and he summoned the newly elected TDs to meet on 9 September. At that meeting he was proposed and elected as president of the Dáil, in succession to Griffith, combining that position with his role as chairman of the Provisional Government. In a typically short and pithy speech he set out his priorities.


It is my intention to implement the Treaty as sanctioned by the vote of the Dáil and the electorate, insofar as it was free to express an opinion, to enact a constitution, to assert the authority and supremacy of parliament, to support and assist the national army in asserting the people’s rights, to ask parliament, if necessary, for such powers as are deemed essential for the purpose of restoring order to suppress all crimes, to expedite as far as lies in the power of the Government the return of normal conditions throughout the country, and having established Saorstát on a constitutional basis, to speed the work of reconstruction and reparation.


Cosgrave continued to maintain an outward reluctance to accept the leadership, and at his first meeting with the Northern Ireland prime minister, James Craig, he protested: ‘You know, I’ve been pushed into this. I’m not a leader of men.’ This self-effacing judgement should not be taken too seriously. Winston Churchill, who knew something about the qualities needed in a leader of men, wrote:


The void left by the deaths of Griffith and Collins was not unfilled. A quiet potent figure stood in the background sharing, like Griffith, the dangers of the rebel leaders without taking part in all that they had done. In Cosgrave the Irish people found a chief of higher quality than any who had yet appeared. To the courage of Collins he added the matter of fact fidelity of Griffith and a knowledge of practical administration and state policy all his own.


Cosgrave typically laughed off Churchill’s assessment and told friends with a twinkle in his eye that the only reason he had been described as ‘a chief of higher quality’ than any of the others was that he had taken the trouble to ask after Churchill’s health after a fall from a pony during the tense negotiations of May 1922.6 The historian Joseph Curran got it about right:


Cosgrave’s self-assessment was too modest, for in his quite commonsensical way he made an effective leader. He delegated authority wisely, handled ministerial disputes even-handedly and was, on the whole, an ideal chairman. His colleagues valued his advice and steadiness and long before he left office his competence and wit had made him personally very popular with voters.7


On the day the third Dáil met for the first time the Irish Times published a perceptive profile of Cosgrave, pointing out that he ‘dresses generally in sombre hues, wears a bowler hat and looks rather like the general manager of a railway company’. It went on to say:


He is undoubtedly the most capable man in the new Irish Parliament and that may be said without the slightest contradiction of any of his colleagues. As Premier of the Free State he has a formidable task before him but in one way he is almost the ideal choice because he has no violently extremist past to live down and with him the problem of saving face does not arise.8


The poet Padraic Colum, a long-time friend and political ally, provides the following pen-picture of W.T. as he took over the leading role in the Dáil in the autumn of 1922:


He speaks leaning forward, his hands on the barrier before him; his delivery becomes like a series of pistol shots, each word shot out, each word reaching its mark. He is sociable as becomes a Dublin man and abundantly witty. His wit is a Dublin wit. It is founded on a very exact estimate of character. He can reveal character in a mordant phrase. Before his humour, before the phrase that springs up in his speech pretentiousness of all kinds falls away.9


During September 1922 the Civil War intensified and Mulcahy proposed that the army be given the power to try and punish a wide range of offences. After long discussion at cabinet the details of an Emergency Powers Bill were agreed. This provided for the establishment of military tribunals, which were empowered to impose the death penalty for serious offences, including the possession of weapons. When the bill was introduced in the Dáil, Cosgrave told deputies that ‘those who persist in those murderous attacks must learn that they have got to pay the penalty for them.’ In response to suggestions from the Labour leader Tom Johnson, Cosgrave announced an amnesty on 3 October to give republicans a chance to surrender before the new provisions came into effect. Few availed of the option, and the special powers came into effect on 15 October, the day after the amnesty expired.


The first executions took place a month later when four young men, found guilty of carrying unauthorised arms in Dublin, were shot by a firing squad. A week later an execution took place that elevated the Civil War into a new phase. The leading anti-Treaty figure Erskine Childers was captured at his cousin’s home in Co. Wicklow and had in his possession a pistol given to him by Michael Collins. He was tried and convicted by a military court and executed the following morning. Cosgrave vigorously defended the execution of Childers in the Dáil on 28 November and he outlined the basis of his government’s policy.


What do we want? We want simply order restored to this country. We want all arms under the control of the people who elected us and who can throw us out tomorrow if they so desire. We want that the people of this country only shall have the right to say who are to be armed and who are not; and we are going to get the arms if we have to search every house in the country.


Maintaining that the same law had to apply to the ‘intellectual’ Childers as applied to the four ‘poor men’s sons’ who had been executed a week earlier, Cosgrave went on:


People who rob with arms are going to be brought before military courts and found guilty. Persons robbing at the point of the gun will be executed without discrimination. This is going to be a fair law, fairly administered and administered in the best interests of the country for the preservation of the fabric of society … We are going to see that the rule of democracy will be maintained no matter what the cost and no matter who the intellectuals that may fall by reason of the assertion of that right.


The response of the Irregulars to the emergency powers came on 30 November when the IRA chief of staff, Liam Lynch, sent instructions to all battalion commanders to conduct operations against the enemy. No less than fourteen categories of people were directed to be ‘shot at sight’, including all members of the Provisional Dáil who had voted in favour of the Emergency Powers Act. As well as that, republicans were ordered to kill members of the Senate, High Court judges, journalists and proprietors of hostile newspapers and even ‘aggressive Free State supporters’. The homes and offices of all these people were also to be destroyed, as were the homes of ‘imperialist deputy lieutenant of the county types’. There followed a series of outrages by republicans against politicians, journalists and ordinary citizens.10


As the Civil War escalated the government faced other problems. A constitution had to be drafted and enacted to put the operations of the government and the Dáil on a legal basis. A police force was hurriedly established, and in a courageous and an imaginative move the new Civic Guard, later called An Garda Síochána, was established as an unarmed force, in contrast to its predecessor, the RIC. This was one of the most important decisions the government made to legitimise the institutions of the new state. On 6 December 1922, the first anniversary of the Treaty, the new constitution approved by the Dáil in October came into force. The Irish Free State formally came into being and the Provisional Government ceased to exist. Cosgrave was formally re-elected by the Dáil to the position of president.


The republican response to the new constitution was swift. The day after it was enacted two Dáil deputies were gunned down on their way from their Dublin hotel to Leinster House. Seán Hales was killed and Pádraic Ó Máille, the Leas-Cheann Comhairle, was wounded in an outrage that shocked the nation. Cosgrave and Mulcahy were both visibly shaken and angry when they heard the news, according to newspapers. The murders threatened to strangle Irish democracy, because some Dáil deputies fled Dublin for their lives after the shooting. Cosgrave ordered the secret service to go after the fleeing deputies and bring them back to Dublin. He then met each of the worried TDs individually and appealed to them not to be deterred from their patriotic duty.


By this stage Cosgrave had already stamped his authority on the Dáil and was known by his own supporters as ‘the Boss’. Seán Mac Eoin, who initially feared that W.T. would not be strong enough to conduct the war after Collins’s death, conceded years later that after a couple of months the military was convinced that ‘Cosgrave had the punch that was needed’. On the night of 7 December all his authority was required to calm his panicking deputies. A story was told of one TD from Cork who resisted threats of execution by the secret service if he left Dublin and only agreed to stay because he feared Cosgrave’s wrath.


Having met his wobbling TDs, Cosgrave then chaired a critical cabinet meeting to consider the government’s next move. Mulcahy submitted a proposal from the Army Council for the immediate execution of four imprisoned IRA leaders: Rory O’Connor, Liam Mellows, Richard Barrett and Joe McKelvey. After a discussion Cosgrave went around the cabinet table to ask each minister individually if he approved of the executions. Of the ministers present, Blythe, MacNeill and FitzGerald backed Mulcahy. McGrath questioned the policy, but only O’Higgins initially baulked. Rory O’Connor had been best man at his wedding only a year before and he felt terrible anguish at having to agree to the executions, but he finally did. He was swayed by the argument that if the cabinet did not act ruthlessly there would be more assassinations and TDs would start to resign, turning the Executive Council into a dictatorship.11


The next morning the four IRA leaders, one from each province, were executed at Mountjoy Jail. There was outrage among opposition TDs, who accused the cabinet of personal vindictiveness when the decision was announced to the Dáil later that day. ‘Personal spite, great heavens, vindictiveness, one of these men was a friend of mine,’ said O’Higgins before he broke down in tears, unable to continue. Cosgrave was calmer, telling deputies that it had been impossible for the cabinet to consult the Dáil before acting and he defended the action.


There is an elementary law in this case. The people who have challenged the very existence of society have put themselves outside the Constitution and only at the last moment, not thinking there was such infamy in this country, we safeguarded this Dáil and the government and the people of Ireland from being at the mercy of these people … There is only one way to meet it and that is to crush it and show them that terror will be struck into them.


The government’s decision was supported by 39 votes to 14.


Donal O’Sullivan, the clerk of the Senate, later wrote: ‘However this action of the Executive may be regarded from the ethical standpoint it proved to be an effective deterrent, for no other member of the legislature was assassinated during the progress of the Irregular campaign.’12 However, a host of outrages followed rapidly. On 10 December the house of Deputy McGarry in Dublin was burned down and his young son, aged seven, died from smoke inhalation. An inquest jury later returned a verdict of ‘wilful murder’. On 28 December a landmine destroyed the music warehouse of Deputy Denis McCullough, blowing the whole front of the house into the street. In early January the home of a pro-Treaty deputy, William Sears, was attacked. On the night of 13 January Cosgrave’s own home, ‘Beechpark’, at Templeogue, was burned to the ground by republicans. Though young Liam Cosgrave was only three at the time, the bitter, acrid smell of burning timber that night is his earliest childhood memory. Liam went to live with his relatives in James’s Street, while Louisa and young Michael went to stay at her father’s house. W.T. mostly lived in Government Buildings but also spent some time at the Curragh Camp where he was safe from attack. A few weeks later Dr T.F. O’Higgins, father of Kevin O’Higgins, was brutally murdered at his home in Stradbally, Co. Laois. His body was riddled with bullets in the presence of his wife and seventeen-year-old daughter. Cosgrave’s uncle, Patrick, was murdered by republicans at the family home in James’s Street.13


There was also an orgy of burning and destruction of some of the country’s finest houses, which sent some truly patriotic Irish people into exile in despair. Examples of this senseless campaign were the destruction of Kilteragh House in Foxrock, Co. Dublin, owned by Horace Plunkett, the burning of the historic Moore Hall in Carnacon, Co. Mayo, the destruction of one of the finest libraries in the country at the ancestral home of Senator John Bagwell in Clonmel, and the burning of Desart Court, near Callan, Co. Kilkenny. The homes of all these people were attacked because of their connections with the Senate. The Catholic Church came out unequivocally on a number of occasions during the Civil War. In October 1922, Cardinal Logue issued a joint pastoral – not the first of its kind – denouncing the republican campaign in very trenchant terms.


A section of the community, refusing to acknowledge the government set up by the nation, have chosen to attack their own country as if she were a foreign power … They have wrecked Ireland from end to end. All those who in contravention of this teaching participate in such crimes are guilty of grievous sins and may not be absolved on Confession nor admitted to Holy Communion if they persist in such evil courses.


In the early months of 1923 the government continued its executions policy in response to republican killings. A refinement of the policy was to sentence republicans to death but to suspend the sentence as long as there were no further outrages in the area concerned. As well as state-sanctioned violence, there were also brutal unauthorised reprisals, some carried out by the army and others by the special police based in Oriel House in Westland Row, Dublin. The most notorious reprisal was at Ballyseedy in Co. Kerry, where Free State soldiers tied nine republicans to a landmine and detonated it. The episode only became known because one of the republicans survived the incident. Another shocking episode was the kidnapping and murder by Oriel House police of Noel Lemass, brother of the future Fianna Fáil leader. There were mass arrests of republican sympathisers, and by April 1923, 13,000 prisoners were being held in jails and internment camps throughout the country. Liam Lynch was killed by the army that month in what was the final serious engagement of the Civil War. Then, on 24 May 1923, Frank Aiken ordered the IRA to stop fighting and to dump arms. De Valera issued a stirring message to the IRA, hailing them as the ‘Legion of the Rearguard’ who had saved the nation’s honour. The Civil War was over.14


Cosgrave and his ministers then faced the cold reality of trying to build a viable state. The physical damage to the infrastructure of the country was immense and it took enormous sacrifices and a huge effort of national will to establish the country’s institutions and rebuild its infrastructure. The financial burden of repairing the destruction undermined the prospects of realising the lofty aspirations that had inspired the independence movement. Reflecting on this in 1924, Liam de Róiste observed: ‘We are paying for the “night out” of our fratricidal strife; the sickness of the “morning after” is still there; heartache, headache, depressing and empty pockets.’15


In the absence of republicans, who refused to recognise the legitimacy of the Dáil, Cosgrave had a strong majority in parliament, with the major opposition being provided by the Labour Party. While no formal party structure existed among his supporters, a whip was appointed to co-ordinate their voting strength, and they acted to all intents and purposes like a political party. They were known as the ‘Government Party’, the ‘Ministry Party’ or the ‘Treaty Party’. Moves to establish a proper political party began on 7 December 1922, with a convention of pro-Treaty supporters in Dublin. They considered a proposal to continue using the Sinn Féin title but this was rejected. Instead the name Cumann na nGaedheal was proposed by Philip Monaghan, the mayor of Drogheda. It suggested a link with an organisation of the same name founded by Arthur Griffith. In the words of the historian Mel Farrell, ‘Treatyites therefore reconciled a break with the revolutionary movement while maintaining a link with their separatist past.’16


It was not until 27 April 1923 that Cumann na nGaedheal was formally launched at a meeting in the Mansion House in Dublin. Meeting his ministers in advance, Cosgrave had deemed the Boundary Commission and its associated financial implications to be of paramount importance, while Mulcahy wanted to deal with unemployment and education.17 Cosgrave delivered an opening address outlining the party’s policy, which included the playing down of differences, denominational, social and class, as the basis on which the Free State might develop. The cost of joining the party was set at a shilling a year, while branches were asked to pay a minimum affiliation fee of £2. Membership was open to every citizen over eighteen who accepted the party constitution and the principle of majority rule, another way of saying the Treaty. The broad qualification for membership was designed to attract former Irish Party and unionist supporters. This attempt at inclusiveness led over time to charges from more nationalist opponents that the party had turned its back on Irish Ireland and was becoming West British.18


With the Civil War over and the bones of a party organisation in place, Cosgrave decided to call a general election. It was held in September, and Cumann na nGaedheal emerged as the largest party, with 39 per cent of the vote and 63 seats out of 153. It was not an absolute majority but as republicans, who won 44 seats, decided to continue their boycott of the Dáil, it gave Cosgrave a comfortable working majority. However, the total vote for parties that accepted the Treaty, at less than 70 per cent, showed a significant slippage since the pact election of a little more than a year earlier. It was a harbinger of things to come.


In the Dáil, Cosgrave was an effective speaker, as he had demonstrated during the Treaty debates, but he was not an orator and had little time for wordy speeches. His cabinet colleague Ernest Blythe recalled his style:


Mr Cosgrave was a ready and effective speaker in the Dáil or on a public platform but he was not much inclined to prepare elaborate formal addresses. When such was necessary he resorted to team work and showed himself in advance of other politicians here by having orations prepared by ghost writers who, however, were given his detailed personal instructions.


Another cabinet colleague, Eoin MacNeill, who was one of Cosgrave’s speech-writers, recalled in a memoir how he drafted Cosgrave’s address to the League of Nations in 1923. ‘I had the gratification of seeing it printed afterwards in an American book as an example of Mr Cosgrave’s oratory,’ MacNeill wrote.19


Cosgrave generally behaved in cabinet as first among equals rather than as a charismatic leader. Brian Farrell, in his perceptive Chairman or Chief? put W.T. into the chairman category, and on the face of it that would appear a fair categorisation. In a cabinet of brilliant intellectuals like O’Higgins, Paddy Hogan and Eoin MacNeill, Cosgrave did not give the impression of being a forceful leader of men, but that was deceptive. The army mutiny of 1924 (discussed later in this chapter) showed Cosgrave’s strength as a leader. Much has been made of his temporary absence through illness, with suggestions that he took to his bed to avoid dealing with the crisis. Whatever the nature of the illness, it was severe enough only to prevent him from attending five cabinet meetings. But although not there in person, there is a strong sense in the minutes that his presence could be felt; memos and letters from him were read aloud. Moreover, all decisions had to be approved by him before any announcements or final judgements were made. On more than one occasion he received visits to his home from ministers. During this period O’Higgins attempted to assert himself, and his ambition to be leader is beyond doubt. But Cosgrave never relinquished control of his cabinet.


In its determination to prove that Ireland was capable of self-government, the Cosgrave government ran a tight fiscal policy as it rebuilt the country. Ernest Blythe, as Minister for Finance, went into Irish folklore for his decision to cut a shilling off the old-age pension in 1924 and to cut the salaries of teachers and other public servants by 10 per cent. The nature of the cuts became a millstone around the government’s neck and, ironically, the very people whose Civil War activities made the austere measures necessary were the ultimate political beneficiaries. Repairing the damage caused by the Civil War cost the state £50 million, which came to a quarter of GNP (over €80 billion in 2019 terms).20


In spite of the austerity, the Cosgrave government had a number of achievements to its credit during the early 1920s. While W.T. was initially sceptical about the need to develop a pampered diplomatic service, Ireland joined the League of Nations, and Cosgrave led the government delegation to Geneva in September 1923. Joining the League was a vital assertion of sovereignty, and it was on the government’s agenda even before the constitutional foundation of the new state was fully in place. Membership was seen as one of the tests of self-government, and failure to join would have implied that there was something wrong with the Free State’s constitutional status. The official request was made on 17 April 1923, the first formal diplomatic act taken by an Irish representative abroad. When the Free State was granted membership in September 1923, it was official confirmation that the international community recognised Ireland’s sovereign status. Liam de Róiste recorded the moment in his diary: ‘Four years ago it would have seemed a mighty thing to have Ireland recognised among the nations as a separate nation. Today it is in the natural course as flowing from the Treaty.’ In describing Ireland as ‘one of the oldest and yet one of the youngest nations’ when addressing the assembly for the first time, Cosgrave used language that would be replicated by Jack Lynch half a century later when Ireland joined the European Economic Community.21


There were also notable economic achievements. The Shannon hydro-electric scheme was built at Ardnacrusha, in defiance of economic orthodoxy. The scheme absorbed an enormous proportion of government expenditure and was widely criticised, but it was a vital step in the economic development of the state. The sugar beet industry was also developed as a state project, with factories at Carlow and Thurles. Paddy Hogan, as a dynamic Minister for Agriculture, began improvement in livestock breeding and expanded the trade. His famous slogan was ‘You should keep one more cow, one more sow and one more acre under the plough.’ Hogan introduced the Land Act of 1923 which marked the final transfer of the land of Ireland from the landlords to the tenant farmers.22


A notable feature of the early years in office was a decided shift by the government towards fostering a Catholic ethos in the Free State. When the Attorney General, Hugh Kennedy, sought clarification as to whether divorce would continue to be allowed on the British model, W.T. consulted Dr Byrne, the Archbishop of Dublin, and he asked him to get the views of the hierarchy on the matter. Not surprisingly, the hierarchy expressed its opposition to divorce, and Cosgrave had no hesitation in introducing a bill in the Dáil banning divorce. ‘I consider that the whole fabric of our social organisation is based upon the sanctity of the marriage bond and that anything that tends to weaken the binding efficacy of that bond to that extent strikes at the root of our social life,’ he told the Dáil.


Despite the end of the Civil War, intermittent violence from republicans occurred throughout the 1920s but it was not the only problem which faced Cosgrave. Towards the end of 1923 and early in 1924 he had to deal with mounting discontent in the army and battles for supremacy among his own cabinet ministers, particularly O’Higgins and Mulcahy, whose differences crystallised around the army issue. The immediate cause of the problem was that the army, which had grown to a massive 57,000 men during the Civil War, was to be reduced in size. There were competing claims for survival between the former IRA men in the army and the professional ex-British soldiers, most of them Irishmen who had served in the Great War, who had been drafted in during the conflict. Far more important, though, was a conflict between two groups who claimed allegiance to the legacy of Michael Collins. One was led by the remnants of the IRB, who formed the leadership of the army and numbered among their group the chief of staff, Seán McMahon, and other senior officers. This group had strong links with the Minister for Defence, Richard Mulcahy. The other group, called the IRA Organisation, was led by Liam Tobin and Charlie Dalton. They had been Collins’s apostles and had carried out assassinations on his orders during the War of Independence. During the Civil War they became the nub of the Criminal Investigation Branch of the army, the so-called Oriel House Gang, who played a decisive role in the counter-terror. They had a protector in Joe McGrath, who, although he was Minister for Industry and Commerce, was responsible for their activities.


O’Higgins, as Minister for Justice, became increasingly impatient at the softly-softly approach of Mulcahy to difficulties in the army and with McGrath’s support for the Oriel House group. He was determined to get to grips with both factions, sack their senior members and impose on them the authority of the civil power. There were bitter rows at cabinet between O’Higgins and Mulcahy on the one hand and between O’Higgins and McGrath on the other. The issue came to a head at the end of February 1924 when the cabinet decided to demobilise or demote senior officers at Oriel House, including Tobin and Dalton. On hearing the news they responded by issuing an ultimatum to Cosgrave and demanding a meeting. McGrath lent support to their case by resigning from the cabinet in protest at the cuts in army spending. The government responded by ordering the arrest of Tobin and Dalton, and, on the insistence of O’Higgins, the Garda commissioner, Eoin O’Duffy, was given control of the army.23


By the end of the episode two ministers, Mulcahy and McGrath, had departed from the government and McGrath and another eight TDs actually left Cumann na nGaedheal. Cosgrave eventually recovered sufficient ground to bring Mulcahy back into the cabinet as Minister for Local Government, following the general election of June 1927, and thus provide himself with some balance once more against O’Higgins. In October 1924 McGrath and the eight other disillusioned backbenchers resigned from the Dáil in protest at the affair. Cosgrave refused to be panicked and called all nine by-elections for 13 March 1925. Cumann na nGaedheal won seven of them, and that was the last of the army crisis.


The government, though, was dogged by crises in security and Anglo-Irish relations. One embarrassing setback was the report of the Boundary Commission provided for in article 12 of the Treaty. The expectation of the Treaty signatories had been that the Boundary Commission would hand large portions of the North where there were Catholic majorities over to the Free State. Eoin MacNeill was appointed as the government representative on the Commission, which was chaired by an English-born South African, Mr Justice Feetham, and the editor of the Northern Whig, J.R. Fisher. MacNeill found himself in a minority position but mysteriously failed to keep Cosgrave informed of what was happening. In November 1925 the Morning Post revealed that the commission was about to recommend the transfer of Catholic south Armagh to the Free State and Protestant east Donegal to the North. Cosgrave rushed to London, where he quickly did a deal with the British Prime Minister, Stanley Baldwin, and James Craig to suppress the report. The status quo on the border was retained, with the South preferring to keep east Donegal rather than gain south Armagh. A hugely important part of the settlement as far as Cosgrave was concerned was that the liability of the Free State for the British national debt was cancelled. This was a boost for the cash-strapped government although the agreement that payment of the land annuities would continue took some of the gloss off the deal.24


The Boundary Commission debacle was a setback for Cosgrave and his government, and it was followed in May 1926 by a political challenge at home. Éamon de Valera broke away from Sinn Féin and established Fianna Fáil in anticipation of a general election the following year. That election came in June 1927, and it was a stern rebuff for Cosgrave. Cumann na nGaedheal lost 16 seats and ended up with 47 TDs. Fianna Fáil performed impressively, winning 44 seats, but as the party was still committed to an abstentionist policy Cosgrave was able to hold on to the reins of government.


The murder of Kevin O’Higgins on his way to Mass in Booterstown, Co. Dublin, on 10 July changed the political scene fundamentally. The murder was a shocking reminder that Civil War divisions could resurface at any time. The government responded with the introduction of a harsh Public Safety Bill and, more significantly, the Electoral Amendment Bill. The Electoral Bill required that in future all Dáil candidates would have to take the controversial oath, otherwise they would be ineligible to become candidates. This confronted de Valera with a critical dilemma. Either Fianna Fáil now agreed to take the oath or they would not be in a position to contest the next election. De Valera responded by leading his party into the Dáil in August and taking the oath, for the rejection of which he had justified the Civil War, describing it as an ‘empty political formula’. In his autobiography the writer Sean O’Casey penned this wonderful description of the event:


De Valera, pinched and worn and threadbare, studied the question of the oath. He seemed to turn the spiritual side of the question into a mathematical one. His party determined, after tremendous argument, that the taking of the oath could be done without taking the oath, provided they made it plain they didn’t recognise the oath when they were taking the oath; that an oath taken under duress wasn’t really an oath at all, but just the appearance of one; a deceptive thing, an illusion, a shadow, a ghost-oath. If you believed it was there, it would be there; if you didn’t believe it was there, it couldn’t be there. Just shut your eyes, close your ears, dispel your thoughts, and speak away, and the thing was done, yet not done.25


Accepted wisdom has it that Cosgrave’s intention was to force Fianna Fáil into democratic politics through the Electoral Bill; but R.M. (Bertie) Smylie, later editor of the Irish Times, recalled years later that Cosgrave reacted with shock when he told him ‘Dev is going in.’26


Fianna Fáil’s entry to the Dáil left Cumann na nGaedheal in a minority. De Valera did a deal with the Labour Party whereby he agreed to support a Labour minority government led by Tom Johnson once Cosgrave was defeated in a vote of confidence. Fianna Fáil and Labour were so sure of forcing Cosgrave out of office in August 1926 that they didn’t even muster their full quota of TDs on the day of the confidence motion. One Labour TD, T.J. O’Connell, was at a teachers’ conference in Canada and didn’t bother to come home, with the newspapers speculating that Cosgrave would lose by 73 votes to 69.


On the day of the debate the figures began to change as some Redmondite and independent TDs began to have second thoughts about backing what they considered to be the unholy alliance of Fianna Fáil and Labour. The key to the vote turned out to be Alderman John Jinks, TD for Sligo, who has gone into folklore because of what happened. Jinks, a member of the National League led by Willie Redmond, was known to be unhappy at his leader’s decision to bring down Cosgrave. One story was that Major Bryan Cooper, a former Unionist who now supported W.T., brought Jinks to a bar and plied the Sligo man with drink. Jinks then disappeared from the precincts of Leinster House and mysteriously ended up on the Sligo train when the division was called in the Dáil. The vote was tied at 71–71 and the Ceann Comhairle gave his casting vote in favour of the government. Cosgrave had survived by the skin of his teeth thanks to the disappearance of Jinks.27


Cosgrave won two by-elections at the end of August and, with Fianna Fáil and Labour still licking their wounds from the failed attempt to oust him, he dissolved the Dáil and called a general election for September. The result was that Cumann na nGaedheal increased its strength from 47 to 62 seats, but Fianna Fáil also increased, from 44 to 57. Labour and the other smaller parties took a hammering, and the two big parties were left to confront each other in the Dáil.


Despite its electoral success, important changes had taken place in the composition of the Cumann na nGaedheal leadership, and its Irish-Ireland complexion was not nearly as strong as it had been a few years earlier. The army mutiny had resulted in the departure of Joe McGrath, while Eoin MacNeill lost his seat in June 1927. There had also been some tension in the government over its commitment to free trade. The Minister for Posts and Telegraphs, J.J. Walsh, who favoured the policy of protection that stretched back to Arthur Griffith’s Sinn Féin, publicly questioned government policy and, without giving notice to his colleagues, quit politics on the eve of the September 1927 election.


The drift was compounded by the arrival in the party of more conservative former Redmondite and Farmers’ Party members along with well-off and educated independents like Bryan Cooper, John Daly and Myles Keogh. W.T. also offered to appoint the last leader of the Irish Parliamentary Party, John Dillon, to the Senate but the offer was spurned. ‘I will not serve with people who have blood on their hands,’ Dillon is said to have replied. Liam de Róiste captured the changing complexion of the party when he observed in his diary that Cumann na nGaedheal was a composite party, with one section favouring ‘moneyed and big farmer interests’ and another section closer to Fianna Fáil in an Irish-Ireland policy.28


After 1927 Cosgrave was now under increasing pressure in the Dáil and outside, but he didn’t lose his nerve. The government worked away doggedly at home and with great success in international affairs, particularly at the Imperial Conference of 1931, where McGilligan broadened the scope of Irish independence and proved that the Treaty could indeed be used as a stepping-stone to complete freedom.29 As the decade wore on the government’s early achievements were taken for granted and it was increasingly portrayed as being out of touch with the concerns of ordinary people. Even the style of dress adopted by ministers served to alienate them from the voters. Formal morning suits, wing collars and top hats were the normal dress code for people of their position at the time, but it gave the government a distant air. W.T. was often portrayed by republican propaganda as a ‘West Brit’, which was ironic given his strong nationalist sentiments, but his dress code served to reinforce the image.


Meanwhile Fianna Fáil had begun to build up its support after entering the Dáil. Its economic programme was based on the principle of protectionism, and the party concentrated its attacks on the Minister for Agriculture, Paddy Hogan, for his reforms aimed at making Irish agriculture competitive in a free-trade environment. One of the issues Fianna Fáil focused on in particular was the land annuities – payments made to the British exchequer by Irish farmers in return for the loans to buy out their land under the various Land Acts. The issue represented a combination of nationalist rhetoric and economic self-interest as far as farmers were concerned. Cosgrave didn’t get a great hearing for his argument that to repudiate the annuities would be ‘dishonest and calamitous to the credit of the Saorstát’.


A sardonic London Times reporter noted at the end of 1927 how Fianna Fáil was ruthlessly going after the farmers’ vote.


A protected paradise is not the wildest or most dangerous of Fianna Fáil’s promises to an electorate which is a curious mixture of shrewdness and credulity. When Mr Hogan, unfolding his admirable programme of benefits for farmers, says “O fortunatos nimium sua si bona norint” [O fortunate are those who know how well off they are], Mr de Valera and his friends send back from a hundred platforms the sinister echo “No rint”. They tell the people that Fianna Fáil’s accession to power will mean the end of land purchase annuities and already the effect of this reckless promise on a community of struggling small farmers has been very mischievous.30


Fianna Fáil also managed to outflank the government by unashamedly playing on old religious divisions. Despite his piety, Cosgrave resisted the prevailing sectarian impulses of the day. He faithfully stood by the agreement of 1922 to appoint representatives of southern unionism to the Senate, despite severe criticism from Fianna Fáil throughout the 1920s who claimed he was involved in a Masonic plot with Protestant senators.


The infamous Dunbar-Harrison case provides an interesting example of the pressures Cosgrave was under. In 1930 the Local Appointments Commission appointed a Protestant, Letitia Dunbar-Harrison, to the vacant position of Mayo County Librarian. The County Council refused to ratify the appointment, on the alleged grounds that Miss Dunbar-Harrison did not speak Irish, but nobody was in any doubt that the reason was that she was a Protestant. The government responded by dissolving the County Council and appointing a commissioner in its place who duly appointed Miss Dunbar-Harrison to the post. The political reaction from Fianna Fáil was one of outrage at the appointment. De Valera maintained that if the functions of the appointee were merely those of an attendant handing out books then religious affiliation would not matter. ‘On the other hand, if the whole idea behind the scheme was that the librarian should go into the homes of people, and into the schools, and push the scheme, if instead of her duties being passive they were active, the position was an entirely different one.’31


With his political opponents playing a sectarian tune, Cosgrave also came under pressure from Archbishop Gilmartin of Tuam, but he wrote to the prelate as follows: ‘As I explained to Your Grace at our interview, to discriminate against any citizen – or exercise a preference for a citizen – on account of religious belief would be to conflict with some of the fundamental principles on which this state is founded.’ With pressure mounting on all sides, though, Cosgrave eventually opted for a political fudge, and in December 1931 Miss Dunbar-Harrison was transferred from Castlebar to the Department of Defence library in Dublin. This incident shows some weakness on Cosgrave’s part but not sectarianism. Critics of his piety would also do well to note that Fianna Fáil in the late 1920s hounded him for allowing ‘immoral publications’ to circulate in Ireland and demanded even more rigorous censorship than that in operation.


With Fianna Fáil concentrating on economic issues the government appeared obsessed with security concerns as the IRA continued to engage in sporadic outrage and murder. The Public Safety Acts of 1927 and 1931 and the Jurors’ Protection Act gave the government drastic powers and allowed military tribunals to try terrorist offences. Cosgrave and his ministers vigorously defended the need for such measures, but the electorate grew increasingly weary of the security emphasis.


Fianna Fáil cleverly expanded its republican appeal by adding to its policy practical promises based on voters’ self-interest. For farmers it was the abolition of the land annuities and for the urban working class it was the promise of jobs through a protectionist policy. Cosgrave called a general election for February 1932 and went to the country promising stability and continuity.


With Fianna Fáil and the IRA hand in glove during the election campaign Cosgrave’s tactics became essentially negative. ‘The Shadow of a Gunman – Keep it from your door,’ read one Cumann na nGaedheal poster. Another had a red flag superimposed on a Tricolour with the message ‘We want no reds, keep their colour off your flag.’ A newspaper advertisement read, ‘The gunmen are voting Fianna Fáil, the Communists are voting Fianna Fáil’. The most famous poster of all read:


Devvy’s Circus, absolutely the greatest road show in Ireland today – Senor de Valera, world famous illusionist, oath swallower and escapologist. See his renowned act: Escaping from the strait-jacket of the republic. Frank F. Aiken, fearsome fire eater. Shaunty O’Kelly, the man in dress clothes. Monsieur Lemass, famous tight rope performer, see him cross from the Treaty to the republic every night, Performing frogs, champion croakers, marvelous trained sheep.


On platforms around the country Cumann na nGaedheal speakers had difficulty getting a hearing as the campaign became increasingly disruptive and the IRA put its muscle behind the Fianna Fáil campaign. Government speakers were shouted down, with opponents demanding, ‘Who started the Civil War?’ and ‘Who ordered the execution of Rory O’Connor?’ A standard Cumann na nGaedheal reply to such hecklers was ‘And how many banks did you rob?’32


While both Fianna Fáil and Cumann na nGaedheal were staunchly Catholic, the hierarchy and the parish priests tended to support the government, with many curates backing de Valera. On his tour of the country W.T. lunched with the Bishop of Kerry on 1 February; he visited the Catholic and Church of Ireland Bishops of Limerick the following day; the next day he had tea with his old friend Bishop Fogarty of Killaloe and then went to meet Bishop Harty of Cashel. Micheál Ó hAodha recalled that as a child he heard Bishop Fogarty preaching at Mass in Ennis during the 1932 campaign when Cosgrave was a member of the congregation. ‘So we can only pray that all the saints in heaven, the cherubim, seraphim and choirs, shall join with Saint Flannan to plead before the golden throne that God may look down on all the Dalcassians gathered here in this ancient see of Killaloe to ask before God’s altar for divine protection and guidance for our great president W.T. Cosgrave, to whom we extend a céad míle fáilte to Ennis.’


At Cosgrave’s final election rally at College Green, Dublin, on 14 February passions boiled over as rival supporters fought each other on the streets and the gardaí had difficulty in quelling the riot. ‘There were cheers and counter cheers, scuffles took place among the crowds, free fights developed and batons were drawn,’ the Irish Independent reported. When the election took place on 16 February the voters opted for change rather than continuity. Fianna Fáil increased its share of the vote from 35 per cent to over 45 per cent while Cumann na nGaedheal dropped from 39 to 35 per cent. In terms of seats, de Valera had 72, while Cosgrave won 57. It was a shattering blow to Cosgrave and Cumann na nGaedheal to lose an election to the forces they had defeated in the Civil War ten years earlier, but a younger electorate was looking to the future, not the past.


The new Dáil assembled at 2:30 p.m. on Tuesday 9 March 1932. De Valera entered Leinster House accompanied by his son Vivion, who had a revolver in his pocket. A number of other senior Fianna Fáil TDs were armed as they entered the Dáil chamber. Frank Aiken had earlier handed out revolvers to some of his colleagues and rumour has it that even heavier weapons were on hand in case of an army coup. James Dillon always claimed in later years that he saw a senior Fianna Fáil politician assembling a machine gun in a telephone booth at the back of the chamber. The belief in Fianna Fáil that a coup was possible demonstrated how severely they still misjudged Cosgrave. True enough, some wild men on the government side had talked about a coup, particularly the Garda commissioner, Eoin O’Duffy. Ernest Blythe was also rumoured to be in favour of such action, but there was no widespread sympathy for such a move in Cumann na nGaedheal and Cosgrave was not prepared to countenance it. He asked colleagues where the rumours were coming from and was told about O’Duffy, whom he had never liked or trusted in the first place.


Tim Pat Coogan recalls that Cosgrave was always wary of O’Duffy. ‘In fact, Cosgrave had only persuaded my father [Eamonn Coogan] to act as deputy commissioner in the first instance because he convinced him that a counterbalance was needed to someone whom he regarded as a wild man.’ Cosgrave himself took the opening of the sixth Dáil calmly. ‘Before the vote, far from being engaged in any frantic plotting, Cosgrave was upstairs playing pontoon with the former Education Minister, John Marcus O’Sullivan.’33 Handing over power to the forces they had defeated in the Civil War was naturally regarded as a bitter defeat by the leaders of Cumann na nGaedheal, but over time it came to be recognised as a great victory for Irish democracy and one that was every bit as important as the outcome of the Civil War. It was well summed up by the historian Joe Lee, who said that Cosgrave was essentially a moderate, who had to learn that moderates must be prepared, in the last resort, to kill in defence of moderation.


It was due in large measure to him that things did not fall apart, that the centre did hold, that not so many but so few of the rough beasts slouching through the Ireland of the twenties would reach their blood-soaked Bethlehems. And Cosgrave would do the ship of state one final service, by the manner in which he quietly left the bridge and handed over the wheel to the rival captain. Bitter though it was in party terms – indeed precisely because it was so bitter in party terms – it was his finest hour.34


The journalist and 1916 veteran Desmond Ryan made a similar point when he wrote in the 1930s that perhaps Cosgrave ‘felt like comparing himself to Brian Boru, who had fallen but saved his kingdom’.35 After losing power the big question that confronted Cosgrave was whether he could save his party.
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EOIN O’DUFFY, THE BLUESHIRTS AND THE CREATION OF FINE GAEL


‘The government is back to the heady days of the Blueshirts again.’


– MATTIE MCGRATH, INDEPENDENT TD FOR TIPPERARY, 19 FEBRUARY 2019.


Eoin O’Duffy had an unremarkable childhood. Born Owen Duffy, he was the son of an impoverished farmer. His self-serving unpublished autobiography paints a picture of a relatively happy childhood in Co. Monaghan, one that was framed by the Catholic religion and tradition and a happiness derived from time spent outdoors, in communion with the land. This wholesome, mostly idyllic childhood would later become the standard against which he would judge independent Ireland.1


Unlike some of his contemporaries, O’Duffy did not come from a political family. But he made his name in nationalist circles through his involvement with the GAA. He therefore had more in common with Michael Collins than the likes of Kevin O’Higgins, the Cumann na nGaedheal Minister for Justice whose extended family was steeped in the Irish Parliamentary Party tradition. But while Collins is revered in Fine Gael circles, any mention of O’Duffy – the party’s first president – is studiously avoided. This stems from his leadership of the Blueshirts, an organisation popularly viewed in the same category as the fascist movements that swept swathes of inter-war Europe. Consequently, the role that O’Duffy played, and the involvement of his organisation, in the creation of the party is one that is regularly and purposely overlooked by Fine Gael. A further consequence of the party’s general unwillingness to engage with its birth story is that the other elements that contributed to or informed the formation of Fine Gael have also been somewhat neglected. The National Centre Party, which represented the farming interest, and the influence of the old Irish Party – despite the efforts of John Bruton to highlight this element – are virtually forgotten.


Fine Gael was created in 1933 to challenge Fianna Fáil at a time when the opposition, independently, seemed incapable of doing so. By the time of the 1932 election, when Fianna Fáil first took power, Cumann na nGaedheal had every appearance of a party that was worn out after a decade of continuous governance. When the snap election the following year returned Fianna Fáil for a second term, Cosgrave’s party was forced to accept that its new role in opposition was more than a temporary arrangement. Members had bought their own propaganda that Fianna Fáil was incapable of governing and that voters would quickly realise that they had made a mistake supporting de Valera’s party. A revealing letter to the party’s head office in the aftermath of the 1932 election succinctly captured the Cumann na nGaedheal attitude. Any achievements enjoyed by the new government, it was suggested, would simply be a consequence of building on the previous government’s legacy, while failures would be due to the ‘stupidity and ignorance’ of Fianna Fáil.2


Two successive defeats disabused Cumann na nGaedheal deputies of such notions. It was in this climate that Fianna Fáil’s opponents began to consider how that party might be challenged.


Cumann na nGaedheal was clearly not capable of doing so on its own and none of the other opposition parties in the Dáil were large enough to offer a credible single-party alternative. Talk of the need for a new national party grew, instigated by Senators Arthur Vincent and Alfie Byrne, who were both concerned by elements of Fianna Fáil policy. The two senators had envisaged the National Centre Party and Cumann na nGaedheal joining together in a reconfigured political landscape before the 1933 election, at which they would win ninety seats, displacing Fianna Fáil.


Frank MacDermot’s National Centre Party is a relatively unknown entity in Irish political history. The party’s roots lay in the National Farmers’ and Ratepayers’ Association, established in 1932 in the context of the Economic War and the strain felt by farmers, and following the demise of Denis Gorey’s Farmers’ Party. As a loose federation of local groups, the NFRA did not have the type of national organisation necessary to lead a campaign, and so, on 16 September 1932, the decision was taken to form a new political organisation that would represent the farming interest. Although not originally described as a political party, that organisation would become the National Centre Party. Patrick Belton, a former Fianna Fáil TD, had been the driving force behind the politicisation of the NFRA. A controversial figure, he was bypassed in favour of MacDermot for the leadership.3 MacDermot had served in the British army in the First World War, advancing to the rank of major. He emigrated to America after the war, returning to Ireland in 1927. Having unsuccessfully contested the West Belfast constituency in the 1929 British general election, he was subsequently elected in Roscommon on behalf of the NFRA at the 1932 election. Beyond representing the farming community, the Centre Party he now led also sought to ‘get rid of bitter memories’ of the Civil War and to ‘promote good feeling between all classes’.4 Despite considering itself above Civil War politics, the party was essentially pro-Treaty in its outlook.


However, there was no reconfiguration of the political system before the snap 1933 election. MacDermot was not willing to countenance one, and understandably so. Gorey’s Farmers’ Party had given the Cumann na nGaedheal government support from the opposition benches after the June and September 1927 general elections, and was rewarded with a parliamentary secretaryship, the forerunner of today’s junior minister post. This did not entitle Michael Heffernan to a seat at the cabinet table, where decisions were made, yet because of their support for the government the farmers become closely associated in the public mind with its often-unpopular decisions. Furthermore, while contemporary observers tended to depict the farmers as auxiliaries of Cumann na nGaedheal, in reality, the Farmers’ Party was often critical of the government before 1927. It claimed that high taxes and wasteful spending, combined with an urban emphasis, was ruining Irish agriculture.5 If the Centre Party sought to disperse the ‘bitter memories’ of the Civil War, joining with the pro-Treaty side flew in the face of its stated purpose. A merger was never inevitable.


Both Cumann na nGaedheal and the National Centre Party ran independent campaigns for the 1933 election, although they did invite supporters to continue their preferences for the other party. Cumann na nGaedheal did so more rigorously than the candidates standing on the farmers’ ticket. Although MacDermot’s party did not have the budget to match the spending of the two main parties, the nascent organisation showed greater signs of professionalism than the Farmers’ Party had and employed clever vote-management strategies in the constituencies it contested. The Westmeath Examiner was among those that lauded MacDermot for his organisational abilities.6


The results did nothing to convince MacDermot that merging with a larger organisation would be beneficial. Not only did his party hold its own but it also attracted support away from Cumann na nGaedheal. Eleven of the party’s twenty-six candidates were elected. While eleven seats were not sufficient to make any material difference to the formation of the government, the election did demonstrate a somewhat consistent performance by candidates representing the farming interest. There was no incentive for MacDermot to compromise his party’s identity. Some talks were held with Cumann na nGaedheal, but they did not achieve anything. It appeared that Vincent’s and Byrne’s dream of a national party would remain just that.


Fianna Fáil unwittingly provided the impetus for the formation of a new party – and it was in this context that the Blueshirts were significant. The Blueshirts came into existence as the Army Comrades’ Association. The organisation declared itself to be non-political, formed to offer support to ex-servicemen. It counted among its ranks the leading Cumann na nGaedheal politicians Ernest Blythe, Patrick McGilligan and Desmond FitzGerald. Despite having TDs who sought re-election among its membership, the organisation reiterated that it was non-political at both the 1932 and 1933 general elections. However, its independence was called into question when the ACA became closely associated with Cumann na nGaedheal, and the Centre Party, during the 1933 campaign. That campaign was punctuated by attacks and clashes, and Cumann na nGaedheal candidates, as well as those from MacDermot’s party, were routinely targeted. The ACA extended its services to protect the meetings in a climate where W.T. Cosgrave felt that the government had failed to take control. Invoking its roots as the party of law and order, Cumann na nGaedheal politicians were critical of Fianna Fáil for, in their view, allowing lawlessness to prevail.


The ACA thus acted as a defender of free speech, upholding democracy. How then can this be reconciled with the accusation that it was a fascist movement? The uniform with blue shirt was adopted at a meeting three months after the election, in April 1933. This could be read as a declaration of intent. Indeed, with no history of shirted movements in Ireland, it seems that the ACA, despite the leadership claiming otherwise, was influenced by Continental developments.7 Connections were immediately drawn with Hitler’s Brownshirts and Mussolini’s Blackshirts.


The extent to which the Blueshirts were really cast in the same fascist mould is explored later in this chapter, but it is important to note here that de Valera interpreted the Blueshirts as Cosgrave had the IRA. The not-so-distant memory of the Civil War coloured judgements and amplified perceived threats. The Fianna Fáil government moved to circumvent any risk. On the weekend of 29 and 30 July, Patrick McGilligan, Ernest Blythe and J.M. O’Sullivan had their licences to possess firearms revoked. Blythe had carried his state-owned revolver only since 1927, acquiring it for protection after O’Higgins’s assassination. Not only were all three men prominent members of the National Guard, as the Blueshirts were now called, but they had also been key members of the Cumann na nGaedheal government. While others had their licences withdrawn too, the targeting of former government members appeared calculated. From 1 August the operation to disarm other members of the National Guard moved quickly.


Tensions mounted, and the Garda presence at Government Buildings was stepped up. The threat of violence hung in the air. Despite the increasingly acrimonious atmosphere, O’Duffy persevered with a plan for the annual commemoration of Arthur Griffith, Michael Collins and Kevin O’Higgins. Though scaled back compared with previous years, such a gathering had the potential to descend into violence. It was perceived as a ‘march on Dublin’, a reference to Mussolini’s march on Rome. On 22 August 1933 de Valera’s government invoked article 2A of the constitution, banned the parade, and proclaimed the National Guard illegal. This decision ultimately proved to be a turning-point in the development of the party-political system.


The use of article 2A was controversial. It had been inserted in the constitution as a consequence of the Public Safety Act (1931), introduced by the Cumann na nGaedheal government in response to the growing strength of the IRA. A report sent to the Department of Justice by Eoin O’Duffy in his role as Garda commissioner on 27 July 1931 had reported illegal drilling in various parts of the country and communicated that his men were in a ‘hopeless position’.8 The legislation allowed the government to declare a state of emergency, and Cosgrave had used the powers granted under it to move against the IRA. Saor Éire, a communist organisation, Cumann na mBan and Fianna Éireann were prohibited at the same time. Fianna Fáil had been resolutely opposed to the legislation and the manner in which it was rushed through the Dáil in October 1931; the party ended the state of emergency on entering government in 1932 but did not repeal the legislation. That de Valera’s government then turned to it so quickly in 1933 to deal with the National Guard concerned MacDermot, who became more open to the idea of strengthening the opposition.


At this point O’Duffy was invited into the discussions. Like MacDermot, he had previously resisted any idea of a formal arrangement for his organisation’s non-political stance. But the application of article 2A had focused his mind. An isolated and illegal organisation, with little hope of a future, the National Guard needed respectable allies. The organisation’s executive approved the motion to join with Cumann na nGaedheal and the Centre Party on 8 September. The National Guard was later reconstituted as a new organisation within Fine Gael, named the Young Ireland Association.


Subsequent talks resulted in the creation of the United Ireland Party – Fine Gael, to be simply known as the United Ireland Party. This was at the insistence of Frank MacDermot, who was reported to have floated ‘United Ireland’ at the outset of the discussions and had stood firm thereafter.9 For MacDermot, this name was an important signifier to voters about the new party’s priorities, reflected also in the first point of the Fine Gael manifesto, which spoke of the need for national reunification. Michael Tierney suggested ‘Fine Gael’. The choice of an Irish name was important symbolically, and it also represented continuity with Cumann na nGaedheal. The ‘organisation of the Irish’ was thus to become the ‘family of the Irish’. The succinct name was also snappier than MacDermot’s wordier title, and it tripped off the tongue more easily. It’s hardly surprising that ‘United Ireland’ was virtually dropped within months and that ‘Fine Gael’ was more commonly used. Given that MacDermot was so wedded to the name, it is perhaps surprising that it was replaced so quickly. In truth, though, it reflected the fact that, while the Centre Party may have merged as equals, Cumann na nGaedheal was the bigger party. The disappearance of MacDermot’s preference coincided, not uncoincidentally, with his own decision to withdraw from the party.


If Fine Gael was to be constructed and accepted as a new party, it also needed a new leader – one who was free of political baggage. That ruled out both Cosgrave and MacDermot, even though Cosgrave was, by far, the most experienced candidate. He had proved himself a safe pair of hands as Minister for Local Government in the revolutionary Dáil, and his department was considered one of the most successful of that period. As President of the Executive Council he held together a government that was essentially a disparate coalition of interests, represented by such strong and forceful personalities as Kevin O’Higgins and J.J. Walsh. Supporters showed their allegiance by referring to Cumann na nGaedheal as ‘the Cosgrave party’. But he was also the face of a government that had stagnated, and if he had become leader of Fine Gael it would have immediately established continuity with Cumann na nGaedheal, undoing the purpose of creating a new party. While that was unacceptable to MacDermot, there were elements even within Cumann na nGaedheal who were unsure about his suitability. When Cosgrave did eventually return to the helm after O’Duffy’s departure, Tierney lamented that the development ‘quite blasts all chances of beating Dev in any measurable time’.10


Who was Eoin O’Duffy? And why was the man described by his biographer as one of the most egregious figures of modern Ireland chosen to lead Fine Gael? It is important to remember that, if it had not been for the final phase of his public life, when O’Duffy openly embraced fascism, he would have been remembered as a patriot and state-builder.11 It was precisely that reputation in 1933 that allowed him to claim the presidency of Fine Gael.


O’Duffy had emerged as one of the leaders of the republican movement through his association with the GAA. This was a typical route, best illustrated by Michael Collins, the most famous of the revolutionary figures to have come up this way. Collins joined the committee of Geraldines GAA club in London in January 1908, becoming club secretary by July 1909 – a role that afforded him great opportunities for networking.12 Similarly, J.J. Walsh was a prominent separatist who went on to become Minister for Posts and Telegraphs in the Cumann na nGaedheal government and director of organisation for the 1924 Tailteann Games. He earned these roles because of the drive, ambition and organisational abilities he had displayed as Cork county chairman. Under his direction the Cork GAA organisation was rebuilt in 1907. O’Duffy and Walsh had crossed paths through their activism, illustrating the network of contacts to which membership provided access. Involvement with the GAA created opportunities to build and cement relationships, and to prove leadership abilities. The cross-over in membership of the GAA and the republican movement bred familiarity.


O’Duffy joined Harps GAA club in his native Co. Monaghan in 1910, motivated more by the social and cultural aspects than any real love of playing the sport. His talent for organisation made him a valuable member, and it was not long before he was travelling throughout Ulster to promote and help build the association. Between 1912 and 1922 he served as secretary and subsequently vice-chairman of the Ulster Council, before becoming a member of the central executive of the GAA until 1934. Along with Patrick Whelan, he did much to rebuild the GAA in Co. Monaghan, which had gone into decline in the 1890s.13 His contributions were acknowledged by the contemporary press, which attributed Monaghan’s advancement to him.14


Similarities between his drive and organisation work in the GAA and later with the IRA have been observed, the former providing the training ground for the latter. O’Duffy attributed his decision to join the Irish Volunteers to his involvement with the GAA and the encouragement he received from Collins, who – O’Duffy’s claim went – had approached him because of the strength of Monaghan GAA. In fact O’Duffy’s membership predates his meeting with Collins, and this invented timeline illustrates O’Duffy’s propensity to revise his personal history. His advancement within the Volunteers owed much to his role in the GAA, providing him with a rich recruitment pool. The energy and commitment he had shown in promoting the association was replicated in his drive for the Volunteers, earning him a reputation as the leading republican in Co. Monaghan. By 1918 he had become a driving force behind the IRA nationally, touring the country, organising and reorganising.


His arrest that year confirmed his credentials in republican circles. On his release he played a key role in the independence struggle, marking himself out as one of the most effective IRA leaders in Ulster. When the IRA was reorganised in 1921, O’Duffy was appointed to GHQ as director of organisation, an influential post previously held by Collins. This placed him at the nerve centre of IRA operations. Such prominence later helped facilitate O’Duffy’s work managing the expectations of rank-and-file members in the aftermath of the Truce and subsequently convincing them to support the Treaty settlement. He shared Collins’s view that the Treaty would be a stepping-stone towards a republic.15


Following Collins’s assassination in August 1922, Kevin O’Higgins – in his role as Minister for Home Affairs – sought to appoint O’Duffy as commissioner of the Civic Guard. With a record of organisation in the GAA and subsequently the IRA, along with his republican credentials, O’Duffy was considered a safe pair of hands at a time when the stability of the new state was threatened by Collins’s death. Taking up the post in September 1922, he was tasked with building the force that would later become the Garda Síochána, tackling discipline and ensuring an ethos in line with the aims of the new state. He held the post until 1933, when he was controversially dismissed by the de Valera government – before he was ever connected with the Blueshirts.


Before his descent into fascism O’Duffy had moved in the right circles, had proved his abilities, and was both respected and trusted by many of his peers – although W.T. Cosgrave was a notable exception. While he inevitably upset some people along the way, the decision to appoint him first president of Fine Gael was not a problematic one at the time. He was seen by contemporaries as an energetic and somewhat charismatic figure, a man with an ‘unimpeachable character and an unassailable record’, according to an editorial in the Kilkenny People.16 He seemed to have the promise of being another Michael Collins type: someone who could excite the party in a way that Cosgrave could not. Had Cosgrave demanded it he probably could have retained the leadership.


But while he had shown himself capable of taking charge – even from his sick bed, as seen during the army crisis in 1924 – and making tough decisions, it had never been his style to assert himself in that type of way. In keeping with the attitude that he had displayed towards the state over the previous ten years, he put the needs of both the party and state above personal interest and made unity a central theme in his public speeches on the formation of Fine Gael. Although he declared to the press, ‘I have the maximum of confidence in the leader’, the reality was that he was unsure of O’Duffy, a man he had not recommended for the leadership.17 But he was enough of a pragmatist to realise that stepping aside for a leader who was not a TD meant that he would be de facto leader of the parliamentary party in the Dáil anyway.


O’Duffy was to have six vice-presidents, the identities of whom reveal another important element of Fine Gael’s birth story. Cosgrave, Michael Tierney and James Hogan represented continuity with Cumann na nGaedheal, while Tierney and Hogan were also prominent members of the Blueshirts. The National Centre Party was represented by MacDermot.


The inclusion of Peter Nugent and James Dillon is an interesting one. They acted as a bridge to the Irish Party tradition. When the party was virtually wiped out by Sinn Féin at the 1918 general election, several of its members re-emerged in political life as supporters of the Treaty and joined Cumann na nGaedheal. Others found a new political home in the mid-1920s when John Redmond’s son William founded the National League, considered the natural heir to the Irish Party. The party disappeared as quickly as it arrived and many of its members, including William Redmond, took the Cumann na nGaedheal whip. Reflecting on his party’s roots at an ard-fheis in May 1930, Ernest Blythe spoke not only of revolutionary Sinn Féin but also of the nationalist movements and its supporters who were subsequently attracted into his party.18


While Peter Nugent had no personal experience as a politician, his father was John Dillon Nugent, national secretary of the Ancient Order of Hibernians, a secretive Catholic fraternity whose resources he is believed to have used to intimidate opponents of the Irish Party.19 Son of John Dillon, the last leader of the Irish Parliamentary Party, James was the embodiment of that party’s tradition. It was this element of Fine Gael’s creation that inspired the future Taoiseach John Bruton. There is a tradition that each Taoiseach hangs a portrait of a significant political leader in their office; that person is typically a key figure from the relevant party’s history or from the revolutionary period. When he took office in 1994, Bruton opted for John Redmond, rather than Michael Collins. He has always been keen to emphasise the constitutional nationalist element of Fine Gael’s longer history, considering it an important facet that has been too much overlooked.20


Fine Gael issued a six-point statement to the press on 8 September 1933, followed by a more detailed 25-point programme on 11 November, before the 1934 ard-fheis. Although the influence of Frank MacDermot can clearly be seen in both documents, their content ultimately – and not surprisingly – represented continuity with much of Cumann na nGaedheal’s previous policies. The position on Northern Ireland remained unchanged; plans for tackling unemployment were similar; and reform of the voting system also featured. The most obvious difference was the proposal for the establishment of industrial and agricultural corporations.


Despite MacDermot’s protestations that Fine Gael was a new entity, opponents and commentators were quick to claim that Fine Gael was simply a rebranded Cumann na nGaedheal. As the Labour leader William Norton colourfully put it, ‘the new move was an attempt to put old wine in new bottles.’21 MacDermot quickly grew tired of such barbed comments, snapping in the Dáil that he declined to spend his time ‘reading up old files for the purpose of defending every past action of the Cumann na nGaedheal party’.22 He never got over his unease with the merger, though, and he resigned from the party in October in 1935; he later joined Fianna Fáil and served in the Seanad.


In the decades since 1933, as a search of the digitised Oireachtas debates will confirm, this notion of continuity has been perpetuated, with politicians such as Seán MacEntee, Fianna Fáil Minister for Health, claiming that ‘the sins of the Cumann na nGaedheal are the sins of Fine Gael.’23 There have been references in the Dáil and Seanad to Cumann na nGaedheal’s reduction of teachers’ salaries, alleged patronage, perceived responsibility for partition, unemployment, and neglect of social services, as well as numerous mentions of Ernest Blythe’s notorious pension cut, among other political sins – all reintroduced into political debate for the purpose of point-scoring against the Fine Gael party of the day.


By far, though, the quickest and easiest way to antagonise a Fine Gael politician or supporter is to invoke the Blueshirts. In recent years there has been something of an attempt by party members to reclaim the term, self-labelling themselves in a playful, light-hearted way. Nonetheless it remains a useful slur to be employed by critics. Were the Blueshirts Ireland’s fascists? The nature of the movement has been the subject of much debate. The very name immediately evokes thoughts of Mussolini’s Blackshirts in Italy and Hitler’s Brownshirts in Germany. Plenty of photographic evidence exists of blueshirt-wearing members raising an arm in the style of the Nazi salute. But drawing comparisons with European fascist movements – and their shirted uniform in particular – both helps and hinders our understanding of the Irish movement.24


The liturgical element of the Blueshirts – a defining component of fascist movements – was highly developed. The choice of colour for the uniform, adopted at the suggestion of Ernest Blythe, was deliberate. Blue is attributed to Ireland’s patron saint, and its use connected the movement to the country’s historical mythology. The mobilisation of past heroes is central to fascist rhetoric: in France, for example, the Parti Populaire Français invoked Joan of Arc. A connection with St Patrick was created through the incorporation of the so-called St Patrick’s cross in the movement’s emblems, badges and flags.


Wherever branches existed, in the fashion of the German and Italian experience there were weekly parades and marches after Sunday Mass. Members attending public meetings were required to wear the uniform, a blue shirt with black buttons and a black beret; such gatherings were a show of strength, projecting the image of a disciplined and dynamic mass movement. O’Duffy claimed that at its height the movement had 100,000 members; the actual figure is more likely to have been half that.25 Styling himself the ‘third most important man in Europe’, O’Duffy provided the scope for the cult of the leader that is central to fascism. He encouraged calls of ‘Hoch O’Duffy’, deliberately imitating the German greeting Heil Hitler.


Clearly, then, the Blueshirts possessed certain fascist traits, influenced by developments on the Continent. This was certainly how the organisation was perceived by opponents at the time. As P.J. Ruttledge, the Fianna Fáil Minister for Justice, suggested in the Dáil,


the uniform, and indeed the objects of the organisation which dons the uniform, seem to have been copied, without practically a comma being changed, from similar organisations in continental countries.26


Responses such as that by John A. Costello helped compound such views. He declared that


the Blackshirts were victorious in Italy and … the Hitler Shirts were victorious in Germany, as assuredly … the Blueshirts will be victorious in the Irish Free State.27


Prominent members, such as Tierney, Hogan, Blythe and Desmond FitzGerald, also all expressed undisguised admiration for Mussolini. But, as the historian Mike Cronin has emphasised, it is important to acknowledge that the Dáil and the Senate featured in the Blueshirt vision for a restructured Irish state. It was never intended that parliamentary democracy be disestablished (although some members – in the minority – did imply this). It is on this point that the Blueshirt ideology diverged from its Continental counterparts, making it a para-fascist organisation.


There was another side to the Blueshirts: the sports and social gatherings. While these were common to authoritarian movements of both the left and right, there was already a well-established pattern of Irish movements using recreation and entertainment to boost engagement and membership. Meetings of Daniel O’Connell’s repeal movement were purposely held on fair days to encourage a spirit of revelry; Father Mathew’s temperance movement offered a variety of recreational activities as an alternative to alcohol; and the IRB used sports gatherings as a cover for their political meetings. There was also another uniquely Irish aspect of such an agenda in the 1930s. In the context of rural Ireland at that time, social gatherings offered a release from an otherwise mundane life.28
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